IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ARTEMIS EXPLORATION COMPANY, A Nevada Corporation; HAROLD WYATT; AND MARY WYATT,

Appellants,

VS.

RUBY LAKE ESTATES HOMEOWNER'S ASSOCIATION,

Respondent,

No. 75323

Electronically Filed Aug 07 2018 01:55 p.m.

APPELLANTS' OPELIZABETH A Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from Fourth Judicial District Court, Division 2 Case No. CV-C-12-175

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

TRAVIS W. GERBER, NSB 8083
twg@gerberlegal.com
ZACHARY A. GERBER, NSB 13128
zag@gerberlegal.com
GERBER LAW OFFICES, LLP
491 4th Street
Elko, NV 89801
(775) 738-9258
Attorneys of record for Appellants,
ARTEMIS EXPLORATION COMPANY, a
Nevada Corporation, MARY WYATT, and
HAROLD WYATT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has appellate jurisdiction over this case pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) because "it is an appeal from a final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." The action was commenced in the Fourth Judicial District Court for the County of Elko, State of Nevada, and that Court entered Final Judgment on February 26, 2018, from which this appeal is taken.

The appeal is timely because the Final Judgment was entered on February 26, 2018, a Notice of Entry of Judgment was filed and served on March 1, 2018, and the Notice of Appeal was filed on March 6, 2018.

II.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is a matter that is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11) because it is a "[m]atter raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance . . ." The Supreme Court's decision will determine whether a subdivision with no common elements is a common-interest community merely because it has a recorded declaration, and whether a unit-owner's association "must be organized no later than the date the first unit in the common-interest community is conveyed." NRS 116.3101(1).

III.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the District Court erred by holding that Ruby Lake Estates is a "common-interest community" under the definition of NRS 116.021 when the Declaration of Ruby Lake Estates does not contain any covenant or provision to obligate lot owners "to pay for a share of real estate taxes, insurance premiums, maintenance or improvement of, or services or other expenses related to, common elements, other units or other real estate described in that declaration." NRS 116.021.
- B. Whether the District Court erred by holding that Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association is a valid homeowners' association and is not bound by NRS 116.3101(1) when the association was organized 17 years after the first units in the subdivision were conveyed without notice of an association or dues.
- C. Whether the District Court erred by failing to apply NRS 116.021, as amended, to this case when the 2009 legislative amendment to NRS 116.021 was expressly enacted to clarify, not change, the statute, and when the District Court disregarded the legislative history showing that the amendment was enacted to reject the over-broad definition of "common-interest community" that the District Court adopted.

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case includes a single cause of action for declaratory judgment to determine whether Ruby Lake Estates subdivision is a common-interest community pursuant to NRS 116.021, whether Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association ("RLEHOA") is a valid unit-owners' association pursuant to NRS 116.3101(1), and whether RLEHOA has authority to require lot owners to pay mandatory dues.

Appellants, Artemis Exploration Company ("Artemis") and Harold and Mary Wyatt ("Wyatts"), are lot owners in Ruby Lake Estates, a rural subdivision of 51 lots that was subdivided in 1989. The recorded Declaration, Restrictions and Covenants of Ruby Lake Estates subdivision does not contain any covenant or provision for the organization of a homeowner's association or for the payment of dues or any common expenses. In 2006, 17 years after the conveyance of the first lots, RLEHOA was organized by a group of lot owners in Ruby Lake Estates. RLEHOA began assessing mandatory dues and compelling payment under threat of lien and foreclosure.

The matter was submitted for non-binding arbitration through the Nevada Real Estate Division. A non-binding Arbitration Award was granted in RLEHOA's favor on February 7, 2012. Artemis filed the instant case for judicial review on March 2, 2012. The District Court ordered the joinder of all property owners within

Ruby Lake Estates. All property owners were joined and defaulted except for Artemis and the Wyatts, and the parties later stipulated to dismiss RLEHOA's counterclaims and cross claim, leaving Artemis's single cause of action for declaratory relief.

Artemis and RLEHOA submitted Motions for Summary Judgment in the District Court action. The District Court denied Artemis's Motion and entered its Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on February 14, 2013. In its Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, the District Court concluded that Ruby Lake Estates is a common-interest community because "1) the CC&R's are 'real estate' within the meaning of NRS 116.081; and 2) the CC&Rs constitute contractual interests for which Ruby Lake Estates lot owners were obligated to pay at the time of the HOA's incorporation." The District Court also concluded that RLEHOA is a valid homeowners' association because it was not bound by NRS 116.3101(1), which requires that "[a] unit-owner's association must be organized no later than the date the first unit in the common-interest community is conveyed." On February 26, 2018, the District Court entered its Final Judgment, from which this appeal is taken.

IV.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. Ruby Lake Estates is a rural subdivision of 51 lots. The Plat Map for Ruby Lake Estates was recorded on September 15, 1989, as file No. 281674, and all roads within the subdivision were dedicated to the County of Elko, as stated on the Plat Map. (Vol. 5, Appellants' Appendix ("AA"), Pgs. 152-154.) The Plat Map does not provide for the organization of a unit-owner's association or describe any obligation to pay for any common elements, other units, or other real estate. (*Id.*)
- 2. The Declaration of Restrictions and Covenants of Ruby Lake Estates subdivision ("Declaration") was recorded on October 25, 1989. (5 AA 155-160.) The Declaration does not describe the formation of a unit-owner's association or any obligation to pay for any common elements, other units, or other real estate. (*Id.*)
- 3. On December 15, 1989, the first lots in Ruby Lake Estates were conveyed, when forty-nine (49) of the fifty-one (51) lots were conveyed by deed from the Declarants, Stephen G. Wright and Mavis S. Wright, to Cattlemen's Title Guarantee Company. (5 AA 161.) On February 12 and 15, 1990, Declarants conveyed the remaining two (2) lots to property owners. (5 AA 162-164.) Thus, all fifty-one (51) lots in Ruby Lake Estates were deeded and conveyed by February 15, 1990.
 - 4. NRS 116 was codified in 1991 and became effective law in 1992.
- 5. In 1992, NRS 116.110323 defined a common-interest community as follows: "Common-interest community' means real estate with respect to which a

person, by virtue of his ownership of a unit, is obligated to pay for real estate other than that unit."

- 6. Artemis purchased Lot 6 of Block G of Ruby Lake Estates on June 16, 1994. (5 AA 165-166.)
- 7. In 1999, the Legislature amended NRS 116.1201 to apply NRS Chapter 116 to all common-interest communities.
- 8. On December 12, 2001, Harold and Mary Wyatt purchased Lot 5 of Block F in Ruby Lake Estates. (5 AA 167.)
- 9. In 2003, NRS 116.110323, was substituted, with identical wording, and became NRS 116.021.
- 10. In 2006, the Legislative Counsel Bureau issued a legal opinion interpreting NRS 116.021 to mean that a subdivision with a Declaration, alone, does not constitute a "common-interest community." (5 AA 168-172.)
- 11. In 2006, Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association ("RLEHOA") was organized by a group of lot owners, 17 years after Ruby Lake Estates subdivision was created and all lots were conveyed. (5 AA 173-174.) RLEHOA began assessing mandatory dues against lot owners under threat of lien and foreclosure.
- 12. There is no evidence that the Wyatts ever participated in or approved the organization of RLEHOA.

- 13. In 2007, RLEHOA acquired a lot within Ruby Lake Estates. (5 AA 175-177.)
- 14. In 2008, an unofficial Nevada Attorney General Opinion was issued interpreting NRS 116.021 to mean that a subdivision with CC&Rs, alone, may constitute a "common-interest community" because "CC&Rs" may be considered "real estate." (5 AA 178-190.)
- 15. In 2009, the Legislature disagreed with the unofficial Nevada Attorney General's opinion and expressly clarified NRS 116.021(1) as follows:

'Common-interest community' means real estate described in a declaration with respect to which a person, by virtue of the person's ownership of a unit, is obligated to pay for a share of real estate taxes, insurance premiums, maintenance or improvement of, or services or other expenses related to, common elements, other units or other real estate **described in that declaration**.

NRS 116.021(1) (emphasis added). The amendment clarified that any common expenses must be "described in that declaration" to put unit owners on notice of any obligation to pay common expenses.

16. Senate Bill 261, which enacted the 2009 NRS 116.021 amendment, expressly states that the amendment was a clarifying amendment:

Sections 4 and 7 of this bill clarify the applicability of the Uniform Act by revising the definition of 'common-interest community' to: (1) reflect the revisions promulgated by the Uniform Law Commission; and (2) clarify that certain agreements to share expenses do not create a common-interest community. (NRS 116.021).

(5 AA 195.)

17. Senator Schneider, in the legislative history of 2009 Amendments to NRS Chapter 116, referred to the clarified sections of SB 261 by stating:

There is one other important issue I need to touch on so there is no further misunderstanding about the reach and scope of Nevada Revised Statutes chapters 116 and 116A. Section 6 of the Senate Bill 182 as originally introduced was designed to clarify, and I emphasize the term "clarify," existing law. Section 6 does not and was not intended to effect any change in existing law. It is clarifying language only. The distinguishing factor in a common-interest community (CIC) is ownership of common areas, not the existence of covenants, conditions and restriction (CC&Rs). This is the essential difference between a CIC and a homeowners' association, a name often used interchangeably with CIC but a legally distinct type of entity. Section 6 was necessary because the Real Estate Division has taken the position that a homeowners' association with only CC&Rs, as distinct from a CIC, is subject to Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapter 116 and 116A when in actuality it is not by virtue of the fact that a homeowners association does not own common property.

(5 AA 194.)

- 18. Initially, the Nevada Real Estate Division adopted the Attorney General's unofficial opinion, but then "agreed to drop its assertions" when the legislature, which disagreed with the Attorney General opinion, clarified the statute. (*Id.*)
- 19. On March 9, 2010, Artemis acquired Lot 2 of Block H of Ruby Lake Estates from a previous lot owner. (5 AA 216-217.)
- 20. On February 7, 2012, a non-binding Arbitration Award was entered in favor of RLEHOA, which failed to apply NRS 116.3101(1) to RLEHOA. (5 AA 219-222.)

21. On February 14, 2013, the District Court entered summary judgment in favor of RLEHOA by erroneously adopting the reasoning in the 2008 rejected, unofficial Attorney General Opinion and refusing to apply NRS 116.3101 to RLEHOA. (4 AA 50-71.)

V.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, Ruby Lake Estates is not a common-interest community as defined by NRS 116.021 because the Ruby Lake Estates Declaration of Reservations, Conditions and Restrictions ("Declaration") and Plat Map do not describe any "common elements, other units or other real estate" for which lot owners are obligated to pay.

Second, Ruby Lake Estates Homeowner's Association ("RLEHOA") is not a valid homeowners' association pursuant to NRS 116.3101(1) because it was not organized until 17 years after the first lot was conveyed.

Third, the District Court's refusal to apply NRS 116.021 as clarified by the Nevada legislature in 2009 and the District Court's refusal to review the legislative history regarding the statute was in error. Senate Bill 261 was enacted in 2009 and expressly clarified NRS 116.021 to confirm that a declaration is not "real property" and does not, by itself, create a common-interest community. Pursuant to case law from this Court, clarifying amendments are applied retroactively, and therefore the

2009 legislative amendment clarified that Ruby Lake Estates was never a commoninterest community when its Declaration did not describe any "common elements, other units or other real estate" for which lot owners are obligated to pay.

VI.

STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

This appeal is from the District Court's entry of summary judgment, which judgment construed statutory language and interpreted a contract; therefore, this Court's review is "de novo." *Diaz v. Ferne*, 120 Nev. 70, 73, 84 P.3d 664, 665–66 (2004); *Harris Assocs. v. Clark County Sch. Dist.*, 119 Nev. 638, 641 (Nev. 2003); *Tore, Ltd. v. Church*, 105 Nev. 183 (1989).

VII.

ARGUMENT

A. The District Court erred by holding that Ruby Lake Estates is a "common-interest community" under the definition of NRS 116.021.

Ruby Lake Estates subdivision is not a common-interest community as defined in NRS 116.021 because the Ruby Lake Estates Declaration of Reservations, Conditions and Restrictions ("Declaration") and Plat Map do not describe any common elements, other units, or other real estate for which lot owners are obligated to pay.

Ruby Lake Estates was created in 1989. NRS Chapter 116 was codified in 1992 and was applied to pre-1992 communities pursuant to NRS 116.1201 in 1999. Therefore, Nevada Revised Statutes Chapter 116 applies to this case.

NRS 116.021 defines a "common-interest community" as follows:

"Common-interest community" means real estate described in a declaration with respect to which a person, by virtue of the person's ownership of a unit, is obligated to pay for a share of real estate taxes, insurance premiums, maintenance or improvement of, or services or other expenses related to, common elements, other units or other real estate described in that declaration.

Thus, in order for a subdivision to qualify as a common-interest community, the Declaration must describe common elements, other units or other real estate for which lot owners are obligated to pay. Therefore, the Declaration must be reviewed, de novo, to determine whether the documents "describe" a restrictive covenant that required unit owners to pay for "common elements, other units or other real estate." (5 AA 155-160.) The Declaration does not describe any common elements, other units or other real estate for which lot owners are obligated to pay, so Ruby Lake Estates subdivision is not a common-interest community pursuant to NRS 116.021. (*Id.*)

When reviewing the Declaration, "[t]he rules of construction governing the interpretation of contracts apply" because such a review is an "interpretation of restrictive covenants for real property." *Diaz*, 120 Nev. at 73. The first determination is "whether the 'language of the contract is clear and unambiguous; if it is, the

contract will be enforced as written.' An ambiguous contract is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, and '[a]ny ambiguity, moreover, should be construed against the drafter." *Am. First Fed. Credit Union v. Soro*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 73, 359 P.3d 105, 106 (2015) (quoting *Davis v. Beling*, 278 P.3d 501, 515 (2012); *Anvui*, *LLC v. G.L. Dragon*, *LLC*, 123 Nev. 212, 215–16, 163 P.3d 405, 407 (2007)). "When construing real property covenants of doubtful import, they should be construed against the person seeking enforcement." *Caughlin Ranch Homeowners Ass'n v. Caughlin Club*, 109 Nev. 264, 268 (1993) (*citing Harborview Imp. Ass'n v. Downey*, 270 Md. 365, 311 A.2d 422, 425 (1973)).

Furthermore, case law in Nevada rejects any covenants not expressly written in the declaration or otherwise recorded at the time of the deed acquisition. *E.g.*, *Caughlin Club*, 109 Nev. 264 ("There were simply no provisions in the CC & R's that would have alerted [the property owner] to the possibility that new property classifications would be created pursuant to which his property would be subject to assessment by the Association.") ¹; *Diaz*, 120 Nev. at 75 (a community could not

The District Court erroneously disregarded the importance of the Supreme Court's findings in *Caughlin Club*. (4 AA 66:13-16.) *Caughlin Club*'s holding that homeowners cannot be bound by covenants not contained in the declaration is central to the issue at hand, and therefore applicable.

The District Court further erred by asserting that *Caughlin Club* is inapplicable to this case by finding that NRS Chapter 116 did not apply to the pre-1992 HOA in the case. (*Id.*) However, in the 2004 case *Diaz v. Ferne*, 120 Nev. 70 (2004) that involved an HOA that was clearly subject to NRS Chapter 116, this Court

prohibit a lot owner from installing a manufactured home because the community's CC&Rs were "silent" regarding manufactured homes); *accord Lakeland Property Owners Ass'n v. Larson*, 121 Ill.App.3d 805, 77 Ill.Dec. 68, 459 N.E.2d 1164 (1984) ("a grantee can only be bound by what he had notice of, not the secret intentions of the grantor"). Thus, Ruby Lake Estate's lot owners can only be bound by what they had notice of, and the District Court cannot impose new obligations and dues by implication.

Therefore, this Court should find that Ruby Lake Estates subdivision is not a common-interest community pursuant to NRS 116.021 because the declaration does not described any "common elements, other units or other real estate" for which unit owners are obligated to pay.

1. The Declaration of Ruby Lake Estate does not describe any "common elements, other units or other real estate" for which unit owners are obligated to pay.

Ruby Lake Estates' Declaration was recorded on October 25, 1989, and has never been amended. (5 AA 155-160.) No provision of the Declaration describes any common elements or any obligation for lot owners to pay for common elements, other units or other real estate described in the declaration. (*Id.*) Thus, the "language

again ruled that homeowners cannot be bound by covenants not contained in the declaration.

of the [Declaration] is clear and unambiguous," and therefore it should "be enforced as written." *Soro*, 359 P.3d at 106.

Although, the District Court found for RLEHOA, it did not cite any language in the Declaration that described any obligation for lot owners to pay for common elements, other units or other real estate, nor did the District Court find that the Declaration described any common elements. (4 AA 68:18-69:9.) Instead, the Court erroneously found that the Declaration—itself—constituted "real property" for which owners were required to pay and that the Declaration "added value for all units in Ruby Lakes[sic] Estates, including the establishment of an enforcement body, the operations for which lot owners were obligated to pay at least by implication." (4 AA 69:14-16.) The District Court erroneously cited the 2008 rejected, unofficial Nevada Attorney General's Opinion and failed to apply NRS 116.021 as clarified by the Nevada legislature in 2009. (*Id.*) Therefore, this ruling should be overturned on appeal.

First, NRS 116.021 requires that the "common elements, other units or other real estate" for which unit owners are obligated to pay must be "described in that declaration." NRS 116.021 (emphasis added). In this case, the Declaration does not describe any obligation to pay for common elements other units or other real estate, and therefore the Declaration, as in *Diaz*, is "silent" regarding any such obligation. *Diaz*, 120 Nev. at 75; (5 AA 155-160). Given that the "language of the [Declaration]

is clear and unambiguous" regarding any obligation to pay dues, the Declaration must be "enforced as written." *Soro*, 359 P.3d at 106. Thus, Ruby Lake Estates is not a common-interest community pursuant to NRS 116.021 because the Declaration does not describe common elements, other units or other real estate for which unit owners are obligated pay.

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