IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ARTEMIS EXPLORATION COMPANY, a Nevada corporation, HAROLD WYATT, and MARY WYATT, individuals,

Appellants,

VS.

RUBY LAKE ESTATES HOMEOWNER'S ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Oct 08 2018 02:33 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

Case No. 75323

Clerk of Supreme Court

District Court Case No. CV-C-12-175

APPEAL

from the Fourth Judicial District Court, Department 2 The Honorable Alvin R. Kacin, District Court Judge District Court Case No. CV-C-12-175

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- 1. RLEHOA is a common-interest community formed in 1989 through the proper filing and recording of the Plat Map and the CC&Rs pursuant to the laws in existence at that time, and well before the Legislature adopted the UCIOA in 1991 (and went into effect in 1992) in the form of Chapter 116, and well before the Legislature made common-interest communities created by plat and declaration prior to 1992 subject to NRS Chapter 116 in 1999.
- 2. RLEHOA is a valid homeowner's association which did not have to comply with NRS 116.3101(1) where it was both *factually and legally impossible* for RLEHOA to effect compliance with the literal terms of NRS 116.3101(1) in 1989 when the statute did not even exist.
- 3. NRS 116.021, as amended in 2009, has no applicability to RLEHOA as a matter of law where it is undisputed that it is a common-interest community validly formed in 1989.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background Facts.

1. Artemis is a Nevada corporation, whose President, Secretary, Treasurer, and sole director was Elizabeth E. Essington. Volume 2 Appellants'

Appendix at 45 ("__AA__"). Mrs. Essington's husband was George "Mel" Essington, who had full authority to act on behalf of Artemis. 2AA86, 95-96.

- 2. In compliance with the laws in existence at the time, Stephen and Mavis Wright ("the Wrights") recorded the official Plat Map for RLE in Elko County September 15, 1989. 3AA87-91; 5AA152-154; Volume 1 Respondent's Appendix at 02-05 ("1RA").
- 3. Included on the Plat Map are the residential lots within the community as well as the roadways, easements, building set back lines, and street monuments, among other things. 3AA87-91; 5AA152-154.
- 4. With respect to the roadways, Sheet 1 of 3 of the Plat Map unambiguously states:

At a regularly held meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Elko County, State of Nevada, held on the 5th day of July, 1989, this Plat was approved as a Final Plat pursuant to NRS 278.328. The Board does hereby reject on behalf of the public all streets or roadways for maintenance purposes and does hereby accept all streets and easements therein offered for utility, draining and access purposes only as dedicated for public use.

3AA87-91; 5AA152-154 (emphasis added).

- 5. Elko County has never accepted the roads within RLE for maintenance. 2AA108-109; 3AA87-91; 5AA152-154; 1RA02-16, 26-35.
- 6. Notwithstanding this fact, Elko County requires the roadways and adjoining ditches and culverts to be maintained for health and safety

reasons (*e.g.*, first responder access and fire fuels mitigation). 2AA60-61, 65-66, 108-109, 154-155, 174, 176, 211, 222, 251; 1RA02-16, 26-35. Consistent with this requirement is the undisputed fact that sometime after 1999, RLE received a letter from the Elko County Fire Department informing the subdivision that the weeds on the roads and in the ditches were fire hazards that needed to be removed. 2AA109.

- 7. Pursuant to Elko County Code § 12-5-1, Elko County is authorized to use "any appropriate means" to maintain the roads, such as those in RLE. Elko County Code § 12-5-1; *see also* 1RA08, 14. The "appropriate means" employed by Elko County is the requirement that roads within subdivisions, such as RLE, be maintained either through a road maintenance agreement and government improvement district ("GID") or by a commoninterest community association. 2AA60; 1RA27.
- 8. Maintenance of roadways by Elko County through a road maintenance agreement or GID, and having those costs collected through real property taxes is much more expensive to homeowners than maintaining the roads through a common-interest community association. 2AA60-61.
- 9. The RLE Fire Risk and Hazard Assessment Report prepared as part of the Fire Plan for Elko County shows RLE to be in the "High Hazard" category for fire risk. 1RA74-82. This report calls for fuel reduction treatment

on a community basis and calls for the formation "of a local community-based organization to provide leadership and be responsible for community wide fuels reduction and community fire safety." 1RA80.

- 10. On October 25, 1989, the Wrights recorded the CC&Rs for RLE in the Office of the Elko County Recorder in Book 703, Page 287. 3AA87-91.
- 11. Artemis acquired Lot G-6 of RLE June 21, 1994 and Lot H-2 of RLE March 9, 2010. 5AA165-166, 216-217; 1RA18-24.
- 12. On December 12, 2001, the Wyatts purchased Lot F-5 in RLE. 5AA167.
- 13. The lots purchased by Artemis and the Wyatts were created by the Plat Map and are subject to the CC&Rs. 3AA87-91; 5AA155-160.
- 14. Title to these three lots was taken subject to "... covenants, conditions, restrictions, exceptions and reservations, easements encumbrances, leases or licenses, rights, and rights of way of record, if any." 1AA104-105, 107-108; 2AA51-57.
- 15. Mr. and Mrs. Essingtons' ("the Essingtons") personal residence is located on Lot G-6 (the lot Artemis purchased). 2AA111.
- 16. The owners of the residential lots within RLE have the collective responsibility to maintain the roads and other common elements of the

community. 2AA59-63, 68-71, 108-109, 154-157; 1RA2-5, 26-35. Consistent with the Wrights' expressed "intent that a homeowners association would be created at some future point in time to assume the obligation of road and asset maintenance after all the lots were sold[,]" the Wrights formed Ruby Lakes Estates Landowners Association after the last lot sold in 1997 and thereafter functioned as a common-interest community adopting budgets, collecting assessments, and maintaining roadways, perimeter fences, culverts, cattle guards, entrance sign, and providing weed abatement. 1RA04-05.

- 17. The Wrights initially created the Architectural Review Committee ("ARC") pursuant to the CC&Rs. 2AA108. The ARC served as the executive body of an informal association of lot owners established by Stephen Wright and referred to as Ruby Lakes Estates Landowners Association. *Id*.
- as the governing body of the informal Ruby Lakes Estates Landowners Association. *Id.* ARC, through Ruby Lakes Estates Landowners Association, regularly assessed lot owners within RLE for assessments. *Id.* The assessments were used to maintain the roadways and perform weed abatement within the community and in the adjoining ditches. *Id.*

- 19. The Essingtons recognized this collective responsibility well before the formation of RLEHOA in 2006 as evidenced by letters Mr. Essington wrote to their fellow homeowners in August 2005 for Lee Perks' review emphasizing the need for an association and the obligation of the collective homeowners to maintain the roads within the subdivision. 2AA110, 121-122. The Essingtons also prepared draft articles of incorporation for the proposed association. 2AA110, 161.
- 20. The Essingtons' letters are consistent with the Wrights' sale of the lots in RLE whereby Stephen Wright informed all potential purchasers of the obligation of the homeowners acting through a homeowners' association to maintain the roadways, culverts, cattle guards, signs, and fencing and that assessments would need to be collected by the homeowners' association in order to fulfill this responsibility. 1RA02-05, 26-35; 2AA59-63, 108-109.
- 21. Mr. Perks filed the Articles of Association for RLEHOA January 16, 2006. 2AA168-172.
- 22. From 1994 to 2011, the Essingtons implicitly and expressly represented that they owned Lot G-6. Specifically, they wrote checks for RLEHOA assessments from their accounts. 2AA102-105. In August of 2006, Mrs. Essington sent a letter to Mr. Perks enclosing "our personal check in the amount of \$150. This amount will cover our Ruby Lakes Homeowners dues

for 2006." 2AA206. Mr. Essington signed into member meetings as the owner of Lot G-6 and represented to members of RLEHOA that he had the capacity and authority to act on behalf of Artemis and/or Mrs. Essington. 2AA129, 133; 1RA42, 64. Mr. Essington sent numerous communications to ARC members, RLEHOA Board of Directors ("Board"), and members of RLEHOA representing he was an owner of Lot G-6. 2AA121-122, 200, 202-204, 206, 214, 220, 222-224, 226-229; 3AA13, 69-70.

- 23. Mr. Essington served as a member of the Board from 2007 until his resignation January 2011. 3AA69-70. Following his election to the Board, Mr. Essington signed a Declaration of Certification as a Common-Interest Community Board Member as required by NRS 116.31034(9). 2AA208. In this declaration, Mr. Essington declared that he had read and understood "... the governing documents of the Association and the provisions of Chapter 116 of Nevada Revised Statutes ("NRS") and the Nevada Administration Code ("NAC")." *Id.*
- 24. As a Board member, Mr. Essington seconded a motion to approve the Bylaws of RLEHOA. 2AA127. The Bylaws, as approved by Mr. Essington, state: "An assessment fee will be charged yearly for maintenance, roads, fire protection, and other expenditures as the board allows or required by Elko County." 2AA191.

- 25. In 2006, RLEHOA sent a survey questionnaire to homeowners regarding the maintenance of the roadways, ditches, culverts, and other real property improvements that RLEHOA is required to maintain. 3AA80-82. The Essingtons completed one as "Artemis Exploration-Mel/Beth Essington" and responded that they wanted RLE to maintain the roadways. *Id.* In this same survey, the Essingtons as "Artemis Exploration-Mel-Beth Essington" also agreed that it should take only the approval of a simple majority of landowners to change or raise fees. *Id.* Also in this same survey, the Essingtons as "Artemis Exploration-Mel/Beth Essington" indicated that they were *not* in favor of having Elko County provide road maintenance and that they were in favor of having RLEHOA provide road maintenance instead. *Id.*
- 26. In fact, road maintenance by RLEHOA, including weed abatement, has been an ongoing topic of communications and discussions between members and at members' meetings for many years since the developer turned this maintenance obligation over to the owners in 1997. 2AA59-63, 65-66, 68-71, 73-84, 107-119, 121-122, 126-128, 130-132, 135-139, 174, 176, 178-179, 210-212, 220, 222-224, 231-248, 250; 3AA1-11, 31; 1RA44-47, 49-52, 54-56, 58-60, 66-68, 70-72, 84-86, 91-93, 95-97, 99-101, 103-106, 108-110, 112-114, 116-118.

- 27. As a member, Mr. Essington voted to levy assessments against all members for roadway maintenance, weed abatement, and the repair of signs and culverts. 2AA137, 210-212, 220, 222-224, 250; 3AA1-11.
- 28. Both before and during his tenure on the Board, Mr. Essington wrote letters to members of RLEHOA confirming the existence and necessity of RLEHOA, the necessity of enforcing the CC&Rs, the applicability of Chapter 116 to the RLEHOA common-interest community and to RLE, and the ability and responsibility of RLEHOA to levy and collect assessments for maintenance of the common elements. 2AA121-122, 161, 200, 202-204, 206, 214, 216-218, 220, 222-224, 226-229.
- 29. In addition to the letters to homeowners, Mr. Essington wrote a letter addressed to the President of the Board January 14, 2007 emphasizing RLEHOA's obligation to comply with Chapter 116. 2AA202-204.
- 30. After RLEHOA's formation, Mr. Essington wrote to homeowners on October 13, 2008 emphasizing the fact that RLEHOA is responsible for maintaining common elements, including the roadways. 2AA222-224. Mr. Essington further wrote that because RLEHOA's budget did not have sufficient funds to repair the roads, it was necessary for RLE to levy a temporary assessment. *Id.* Mrs. Essington thereafter paid the increased

assessments as levied by the Board and as urged by her husband. 2AA102-105.

- 31. RLEHOA holds title to real property deeded to it by the developer. 3AA119-122. The members of RLEHOA, including Mr. Essington while serving on the Board, voted to accept title to this real property, pay the documentary transfer tax, and procure liability insurance covering this property in the name of RLEHOA. 2AA135-152. Mrs. Essington also admitted RLEHOA holds title to common area real property. 2AA93.
- 32. In July 2009, the Board, of which Mr. Essington was a member, caused a Reserve Study to be prepared by an independent and licensed community association consultant as required by NRS 116.31153. 2AA231-248. The Reserve Study identified the common elements of RLEHOA as cattle guards, dirt road maintenance, fencing, gates, entrance signs, and street signs. 2AA238, 240, 242, 245-248. It was Mr. Essington who directed the consultant to RLEHOA's common areas. 2AA114-115. Mr. Essington met with and physically traveled to all common areas with the consultant. *Id.*
- 33. At the August 8, 2009 RLEHOA meeting with the Board and homeowners where the Reserve Study was discussed in detail, Mr. Essington voted to approve it. *Id.*; 2AA250; 3AA1-11. Mr. Essington also voted to levy

assessments in accordance with the Reserve Study and the 2010 budget, which he also approved. 2AA250; 3AA1-11.

- 34. Since RLEHOA's formation in 2006, budgets were adopted by members of RLEHOA and assessments have been levied for road maintenance, fire protection, and maintenance of RLEHOA's real property, including the gates, sign, culverts, cattle guards, and perimeter fencing. 2AA68-84, 135-152, 210-212, 220, 222-224, 250; 3AA1-11. Mr. Essington approved these budgets and assessments to pay for maintenance of these community improvements at each annual meeting he attended from 2006 through and including 2010. 2AA126-133, 135-152, 210-212, 250; 3AA1-11; 1RA44-97. The Essingtons paid these assessments without objection. 2AA102-105.
- 35. In 2009, a dispute arose between Mrs. Essington and ARC regarding the construction of a large building to house equipment. 3AA15. On October 26, 2009, Mrs. Essington wrote a letter to the Board expressing her contempt for this structure. *Id.* The Board and ARC took the position that the structure was permitted. 3AA17-18.
- 36. The Essingtons disagreed with the Board and ARC, and thereafter commenced their campaign to have RLEHOA declared invalid

because it no longer suited their needs. 1AA1-26. Although the Essingtons have since passed, their campaign continues through Appellants.

37. Invoices generated in the ordinary course for RLEHOA were sent to Artemis in care of the Essingtons, but Artemis ceased paying its assessments, all of which Mr. Essington approved as a Board member. 3AA33-67. RLEHOA was forced to retain a collection agency to try and collect Artemis' delinquent assessments. *Id.*

B. Procedural Background.

- 1. Artemis initially filed an Intervention Affidavit with the Ombudsman's Office December 18, 2009. 3AA84. On July 1, 2010, the Ombudsman's Office completed its case file review and issued its opinion: ".

 . [I]t is our view that this Association is required to comply with the laws pertaining to homeowners associations, specifically, NRS 116 and related laws and regulations." 3AA84-85.
- 2. Artemis then commenced with arbitration proceedings pursuant to Chapter 38 of the Nevada Revised Statutes May 6, 2011. 3AA75-78. In this proceeding, the parties conducted discovery, including interrogatories, requests for admissions, and depositions, and submitted briefs and oral arguments before the arbitrator. *Id*.

- 3. The Arbitrator concluded that RLEHOA "is a Common-Interest Community and is subject to NRS Chapter 116. It is lawfully formed and is a validly existing non-profit common-interest association." 3AA88.
- 4. The Arbitrator further stated the following and awarded fees and costs in favor of RLEHOA:

It is difficult to understand why, faced with the overwhelming evidence that RLHOA is a valid HOA, any one would continue to maintain that it is not. The HOA owns property within the subdivision, it maintains roads, signs, gates, culverts and fencing. It is incorporated as required by law. Indeed, Mr. Essington was at one time on the board of directors of RLHOA and was a moving force in its formation and incorporation. He signed and filed a "Declaration of Certification Common-Interest Community Board Member" with Real Estate Division certifying that he read and understood the governing documents of the Association and the provisions of Chapter 116 of Nevada Revised Statutes and Administrative Code. His wife, Elizabeth Essington, apparently owns all the stock in Artemis.

. . . I have carefully considered all of the many allegations and arguments of the Claimant and find them unpersuasive. Indeed, I find the interpretation of counsel that the Real Estate Ombudsman took no action when it opined that RLEHOA had to comply with the laws of the Nevada pertaining to homeowners association illogical. The Ombudsman clearly opined that the HOA was subject to the laws of Nevada that applied to HOA's . . . The Ombudsman took no action on the complaint of Artemis because the RLHOA was validly formed and obliged to comply with the law relating to HOA's . . .

3AA76-77 (emphasis added).

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